








right to control the water in the lake and
also the right to enter upon any of the lands
for the purpose of constructing conduits,
ete.” These rights, which have since proved
of great value to the city of St. Paul, re-
mained inviolate when the area passed out
of his hands. 33

HAD GILFILLAN done little besides create
the St. Paul water works, he would have
deserved a place in Minnesota history, but
he was a man of “unbounded energy, un-
weary indefatigability,” and though his role
in the economic development of the North-
west was largely free of publicity, it was a
broad and solid one. In 1863, no doubt with
money from eastern friends, he provided 60
per cent of a $100,000 increase in the capital
of the First National Bank of St. Paul. At
the same time, he replaced Charles Scheffer
on that institution’s board of directors,
where he served for thirty-seven vears. From
1880 to 1897, he was the First National’s
vice-president, but, “although a loyal and
devoted servant,” even he found his schedule
overloaded, and “much of his work . . . had
to be deputed.” He was also one of the
founders of the First Trust Company of St.
Paul.*

As he was preparing to relinquish owner-
ship of the water company, another project
captured his imagination. This was the erec-

#Caulfield memorandum, 38. Prologue to an-
other Minnesota story of interest and significance is
the following item printed in the Duaily Minnesota
Tribune (Minneapolis), August 7, 1883: “President
J. ]. Hill of the Manitoba road has purchased C. D.
Gilfillan’s 3070 acre farm near Pleasant Lake for
$50,000, and will turn it into a fine stock farm.” It
was this land which formed the major portion of
Hill's famous North Oaks farm and the present
village and golf course of the same name. See Deed
Book 120, p. 13, Ramsey County.

# Thomas M. Newson, Pen Pictures of St. Paul,
Minnesota, and Biographical Sketches of Old Set-
tlers, 443 (St. Paul, 1886); Frank P. Donovan, Jr.,
and Cushing F. Wright, The First through a Cen-
tury, 1853-1953: A MHistory of the First National
Bank of Saint Paul, 34, 126 (St. Paul, 1954); Curtiss-
Wedge, Redwood County, 2:627.

% Dispatch, December 29, 1881. The Gilfillan
Block was razed in 1940; in 1967 the site is occupied
by a parking area.
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tion of a large downtown office block. The
site chosen was the corner of Fourth and
Jackson streets, a “historical corner,” in the
words of the St. Paul Daily Dispatch of
December 29, 1881. “There are a few people
now Iiving in St. Paul,” declared the Dis-
patch writer, “who remember the time when
a bridge spanned what is now the junction
of Jackson and Fourth streets. Beneath it
surged and roared a torrent, which drained
all upper town. Where this stream of water
found its way to the river now stands one of
the finest business blocks in the city of St.
Paul. It was left for Hon. C. D. Gilfillan to
reclaim this portion of the city. and at an
expense of nearly $200,000 erect thercon the
finest business block in St. Paul.”

Because of the problems posed by the con-
tour and nature of the site, the erection of
the structure was watched by the local citi-
zenry with more than ordinary interest.
Weceks were spent in the tasks of excavation
and pile driving. Finally, “the foundations
were laid broad and deep and the majestic
six-story building approached completion.”
By the end of 1881, the block’s skeleton was
enclosed, and, during the early months of
1882, the interior was finished. To make the
edifice fireproof, “every modern appliance of
art and secience [was] brought into requisi-
tion.” All in all, the building was constructed
“for time, if not eternity, and nothing but an
earthquake or a Chicago cyclone” would be
able to destroy it. The Dispatch reporter did
not reckon with the even more powerful
forces of urban change and economic
obsolescence. Nevertheless, the Gilfillan
Block, reflecting “the solid and sturdy char-
acter of its owner,” did endure for nearly
sixty years.”

During the last two decades of his life,
1882-1902, Gilfillan focused his interests on
the development of 10,000 acres of rich farm
land which he purchased in northern Red-
wood County. There he erected many fine
buildings —a beautiful home and nearby
office, a grain elevator, barns, stockyards,
tenant houses — and settled down seriously
to the task of applying “business methods
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in agriculture.” A railroad spur was run to
his elevator situated opposite his home, and
from this location, known as Gilfillan Siding,
many carloads of livestock were shipped an-
nually to Chicago. One lot of sixty Gilfillan
steers in the fall of 1891, each weighing
some 1,450 pounds, brought $5.95 a hun-
dredweight live, the highest price by ten
cents a hundred pounds of any of the ten
thousand steers sold in Chicago on that
particular day.?¢

Two years later, in 1893, the editor of the
Morgan newspaper toured the farm and
concluded: “It is a place worth visiting and
is supplied with everything that money can
buy.” Not surprisingly, there was a system
of underground water works leading to the
stock buildings —five stock barns which
held nine hundred tons of hay and 750 head
of stock, three cattle sheds, and a horse barn
large enough for forty animals.37

In the office at the end of the house, where
he spent much time, Gilfillan delighted in
sharing his knowledge with his neighbors
and in urging them to try experiments which
he had successfully made on his farm.
“Every pound of feed that was raised or
purchased he weighed, and every pound of
beef that left the farm was kept count of,”
wrote one observer. “No man so much as he,
helped to develop the idea of mixed farm-
ing.” In many ways his efforts to raise the
level of agriculture in southwestern Min-
nesota are reminiscent of similar efforts else-
where made by his friend, banking associate,
and fellow Scot, James ]. Hill. To both of
these men Minnesota farming owes a sizable
debt.?®

Another contribution of his later years was
the role he played in the activities of the
Minnesota Valley Historical Society, which
he helped organize at Morton on February 2,
1895. The most striking achievement of this
group was the erection of stone monuments
throughout the Minnesota Valley to com-
memorate the major events of the Sioux
Uprising. Although this form of commem-
oration has since gone out of fashion, the
program of the society and the interest thus
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aroused resulted in the preservation of many
historic sites which would otherwise have
been forever lost to the people of the state.
In accomplishing this, many thousands of
Gilfillan dollars were spent.®

In 1901 Gilfillan was “badly shaken by a
runaway team” and had to leave the farm
in order to receive medical attention in St.
Paul. Thereafter, while he was able to re-
ceive visitors and to go out of doors in good
weather, his health failed steadily, and on
December 18, 1902, he died suddenly.*°

The public had understandably assumed
that Gilfillan’s money ran into the millions.
He had obviously had both the opportunity
and ability to amass a fortune. Surprise was
expressed, therefore, when his estate was
filed for probate and the amount proved to
be less than $370,000. Those who knew him
best may have suspected this, for his quiet
charities, especially in his last years, had
been substantial. Obituaries in the state’s
newspapers resounded with flowery praise,
but perhaps the best comment was made by
an editor in the farming community that had
grown to know him well: “He was a man
who put no fence about himself.” !

# Wayne E. Webb and J. 1. Swedberg, Redwood:
The Story of a County, 139 (St. Paul, 1964); Fairfax
Standard, June 1, 1939; The Messenger (Morgan),
May 9, 1891; Redwood Gazette, September 10,
1891.

" Morgan Messenger, October 19, 1893.

* Morgan Messenger, December 25, 1902. Long
before the days of the New Deal’s shelter belts in
the 1930s, Gilfillan had thousands of trees planted
on his prairie land. See Redwood Gazette, May 8,
1890,

® Lamberton Star, December 19, 1902; Folwell,
Minnesota, 2:390. See also, Sketches Historical and
Descriptive of the Monuments and Tablets Erected
by the Minnesota Valley Historical Sociely in Ren-
ville and Redwood Counties, Minnesota (Morton,
1902). For a comment on the present-day impor-
tance of this early effort at preservation, see Russell
W. Fridley, “Preserving and Interpreting Min-
nesota’s Historic Sites,” in Minnesota History, 37:59,
60 (June, 1960).

*“ Morgan Messenger, December 25, 1902; Lam-
berton Star, December 19, 1902.

“ Morgan Messenger, December 25, 1902. For
speculation on Gilfillan’s wealth, see Newson, Pen
Pictures, 443.

THE PORTRAIT of Gilfillan is from the picture
collection of the Minnesota Historical Society.
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